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2 SETTING OF THE
CONSERVATION AREA

History of Designation and Extent

2.1 The Ottery St.Mary Conservation Area incorporates the
historic market and ecclesiastical centre, most of the 19th century
suburbs, and a large area of historic landscape to the north and
west of the town, including the small hamler of Dunkirk in a
wooded setting just to the northwest of the main urban area.

2.2 The present Conservation Area was first designared in
1973 with a large extension added in November 1983. Within

the existing conservation area there are some 50 listed buildings
the location of which are shown on Map One.

Basic Form and Layout

2.4 The town centre exhibits an informal but closely
grouped network of streets which appears to be of medieval
origin. This is also reflected in street names thar hinr ar consid-
erable antiquity, Cornhill, Paternoster Row, The Flexton, Jesu
Street and Yonder Streer. A settlement would already have
become established when Bishop Grandisson's collegiate church
for 40 monks was established in 1335.

2.5 The town has long flourished as a market and manufac-
turing centre, but, like many others in Devon at the time, was
swept by great fires in 1767 and 1866. It nevertheless retains
many good Georgian houses, especially near the Parish Church,
which is its glory and modelled on Exeter Cathedral. Otherwise
the large majority of buildings within the conservation area are of
19th or early 20th century date.

2.6 Although not an evident feature from within much of
the town centre, St. Mary's Church is the building with which
the town is most immediately associated. With its large
churchyard, it forms an enclave to the north of the town centre
with largely open countryside beyond the also quite imposing
group of buildings that surround it. The Vicarage and Warden's

Paternoster Row has several fine 18th century houses

House in the lane south of the church are now all that indicates
the remnants of the College. Chanter's House, northwest of the
church is an imposing house, rebuilt in 1882, apart from the
southwest front. This was the home of the Coleridges’ and it also
has a tablet describing that here during the Civil War, Faifax was
presented with a jewel by Parliament in recognition of his services
at the Battle of Naseby. Furthermore it was in the Great Parlour
of this house that Cromwell and Fairfax signed the Convention
of the West.













3. Eastern Approaches

3.4 Yonder Street is an important entry point to the town
from the east. It has a pleasant, quite intimate scale and with

its continuously changing alignment of building groups

provides considerable visual contrast, further enhanced by a range
of building styles and materials, including some good cream and
red brick derail to 19th century houses and some carlier
vernacular buildings, for example a row of thatched cottages
(probably 17th century). As in the town centre there has been
fairly extensive loss of original frontages and there is a particularly
bad example at Sherman House, where a plaque records an
original date of 1572 and a supposed restoration of 1972. This
is a classic example of what damage can be done by insensitive
alterations disguising virtually all the historic fabric of the
building which may or may not have survived.

3.5 Sandhill Street, running parallel with Yonder Street is a
quict backwater with some plain and relatively unharmed mainly
19th century short terraces of considerable quality and variety.

Views into Paternoster Row and North Street

4. North Street and Paternoster Row (part)

3.6 This is another important entry point to the town with
considerable variations in architectural style and aspect. There are
an important series of vistas into the town as the bend between
North Street and Paternoster Row reveals an intriguing glimpse of
the twin towers of the Parish Church which then burst dramati-
cally back into view when making a final sharp left turn. With a
combination of brick, pastel-painted render, and small sections of
exposed stonework this again is townscape at its best, marred only
by overhead power lines, and the gradual intrusion of artificial
materials (e.g. PVCU windows and artificial slates).

5. Mill Street and former Mills

3.7 A part of the town that is significant historically, since it
reflects important phases of the town's industrial past, and still
contains a major manufacturing enterprise. In addition to close
proximity to the River Otter, is the Mill Leat which forms much
of the western boundary of the conservation area. The area is
further characterised by a striking pair of 1911 houses, some
fairly plain 19th century terraces, and two fine 18th century town
houses. There is also the striking former Weslyan Chapel
frontage dated 1829; mostly of brick but with some chert and
sandstone footings and other detail.

6. Hind Street to Dunkirk

3.8 This part of the town is dominated by car parks,
generally carefully landscaped, with pleasant public open spaces
and footpaths, and some relatively new building. Also within this
area is Dunkirk, a small group of houses and a lodge, with inter-
esting detail - brick, tile and tile hanging, and an especially ornate
pair of iron gates.

7 Associated Landscape between Butts Hill and Cadhay
Bridge Farm

3.9 A large area of both open and wooded landscape of
historic importance mainly associated with Chanter's House.

respectively from close to the junction with
Ridgeway. Here much development is later 19th
century redbrick terraces interspersed with some
earlier cottages (above)













5 HARD SURFACES

5.1 Survival of early paved or cobbled surfaces using tradi-
tional materials is rare for an historic town of this quality. The
only examples are to be found where slate or natural stone has
been used in steps as treads or risers, some providing entrances to
houses others as flights, for example the National Westminster
Bank. In one or two cases there is damage and replacement is
necessary.

5.2 Although more recent treatment has been generally
well-handled, as for example the paved and bollarded surround to
the memorial at the top of Silver Street, concrete or brick pavoirs
have been used. No attempt has been made to re-introduce
locally available natural materials.

6 BUILDING MATERIALS AND
ORNAMENT

6.1 Brick, sometimes painted, and smooth or roughcast
render are the predominant building materials. Colours are
normally carefully chosen and well-balanced. Locally found chert
is often used for boundary and retaining walls. Brick with stone
or stuccoed dressings is used in many of the more important

buildings.

6.2 The Parish Church is an attractive combination of
mainly local brown conglomerate sandstone with Beer stone
dressings. Internally the 19th century font is noteworthy as an
outstanding example of the use of English Marble, most of which
originates from the Newton Abbot area the southern edge of
Dartmoor.

6.3 Slate is overwhelmingly the predominant roofing
material with some good surviving Cornish examples, but a
strong tendency to replacement with artificial substitutes. There
are a few good examples of ornamental red terracotta ridge tiles
and the extent, range and rate of loss of red and cream terracorta
chimney pots would repay investigation, since here as elsewhere,
there appears to be some threat to their survival in a town where
skyline views are often important.

6.4 Otrery St Mary is quite rich in ornament. Late 18th and
early 19th century houses exhibit fine classical detailing, and
there is some robust wrought ironwork, for example the railings
and overthrow enclosing part of the churchyard, and fronting
some houses. A number of good late 19th/early 20th shopfronts
survive although many more have been replaced by later substi-
tutes, which although considered contemporary, tend to lack the
quality of finish and craftsmanship of the earlier examples that
they have often replaced.

6.5 There is a good range of traditional timber doors, door
surrounds and windows, and a scattering of porches. Poor
quality and inappropriate replacements are becoming increasingly
commonplace. A succession of top-opening vents in a frontage
where double-hung sash windows would once have been
universal can be unduly prominent and visually discordant. The
almost complete loss of original frontage detail of this type is a
problem that needs to be addressed if the inherent character of all
but a very small minority of such buildings, which are usually a
prominent part of the townscape, are to survive. Much more
damage appears to be occurring to houses of this period than to
carlier domestic buildings where the case for and incidence of
listing is very much greater.

Silver Strees, less than 100 metres from Hind Street, presents an attractive townscape although street furniture still
tends to dominate






7 STREET FURNITURE AND
SPECIAL FEATURES

7:1 The prominence of metal columns carrying overhead
power lines, and attached urilitarian streetlighting is a strongly
intrusive feature in several important streetscapes close to the
most visually sensitive and architecturally important parts of the
town. Cornhill and Paternoster Row are worst affected. A
pleasant contrast is the unobtrusive lighting and an absence of
columns in the Broad Street area.

7.2 Lirtle of historic consequence in this context has
survived, apart from some fine cast-iron street nameplates painted
white on black, and the intriguing wood and metal turnstiles in
Piccadilly Lane.

Piccadilly Lane linking Mill Street and Hind Street

8 SYNOPSIS OF HISTORIC
BUILDINGS

Distribution

8.1 Most listed buildings in Ottery are to be found in the
streets leading up to or near to the Parish Church i.e. Paternoster
Row, Cornhill, Silver Street, Gold Street and The Flexton.
Elsewhere are individual buildings or small groups scattered
across the town, with probably the largest concentration around
Mill Street.

Summary of Listed Buildings

8.2 The following is a summary of the main listed buildings
of note within the conservation area:

8.3 The Parish Church of St Mary vies with Crediton in
historic importance. It was clearly modelled by Bishop Grandison
on Exeter Cathedral when he greatly enlarged it between 1338-42
for his college of canons, since St Mary's has the only other pair
of transeptal towers in England, albeit at a suitably reduced scale.
The appearance has changed little since, apart from the addition
of the Dorset aisle ¢.1550, and a substantial restoration by
Butterfield in 1849-50.

8.4 The College appears to have consisted of a small
cloister south of the nave with a Chapter House, Library and
Gatehouses, all of which have disappeared. The remnants of
houses of the individual canons grouped loosely around the
courtyard still survive, but are too much altered to understand
their medieval origins.

8.5 Immediately southwest of the churchyard, is the
Warden's House, now mainly of 18th century appearance but
with a 17th century staircase. Adjoining is the Vicarage, mostly
19th century, east of which the School and Choristers' House
survived into the 19th century.

8.6 North of the churchyard is Manor House with an 18th
century brick front and some earlier parts with mullioned
windows. It was reduced in size in 1860. The original Chanter's
House northwest of the church which has an interesting history
(see 2.7) is much altered. There is a fine south front of five bays
in red brick, built in the 18th century by the Heath family,
otherwise it is of boldly diapered brick and half-timber by
William Butterfield 1880-83 when the house was extensively
altered for his friend Sir John Duke Coleridge, a former Lord
Chief Justice. It is considered one of Butterfield's most ambitious
domestic works. The library built to house Coleridge's 18,000
books is a major feature. The Great Parlour along the south front,
otherwise known as the Cromwell Room is where Cromwell and
Fairfax met in 1645. It has very broad panelling and three niches.

8.7 East and west of the town centre respectively are the
United Reformed Church and the Methodist Church. The
former is late 18th century brick, altered with Sunday School
buildings added. It has a distinctive hipped slate roof providing a
50 feet square interior supported by four timber posts. It has kept
a meeting house appearance (cf. Salem Chapel, East Budleigh).
The porch is flanked by large segment-headed windows with a
small window above to light the former gallery. The former
Wesleyan Methodist Church of 1829, though less impressive, has
a tall three-bay gabled brick front.






Other Important Buildings or Features

8.10  In the vicinity of Ottery St Mary but not included
within the existing conservation area the following are worthy of
note:

St.Saviour's Bridge providing the road crossing of the River
Otter, was completed in 1851 in a Gothic style and consists of
five-arched cast-iron girders supporting cast-iron trays carrying
the road surface and railings above. It was constructed by Joseph
Butter and Company of Stanningley Ironworks, Leeds to replace
a previous bridge.

Salston Hotel (one mile southwest) is approached past two
stucco lodges; one is 18th century, the other dated 1844. The
house has a low 18th century wing but is mainly brick 19th
century neo-Tudor by William Hart Coleridge, and is largely
symmetrical with gables. A late 19th century ballroom wing has
been added ro the east with a 16th century fireplace, probably
salvaged from the former collegiate buildings at Ottery.

Patteson's Cross built of brick in 1873 by Butterfield commem-
orates Bishop Patterson of Melanesia (1827-71).

9 FEATURES OF SPECIAL
IMPORTANCE

The main character elements in Ottery St Mary conservation area
which may be considered as worthy of retention are as follows:

- the historic core around the church with its medieval
origins and layour.

- the 18th and 19th century town houses, together with
many good examples of classical (mainly Georgian) derailing

- the predominantly two-storey pattern of development,
much with a direct street frontage. Three-storey devel-
opment is contained within a relatively small area of the
town-centre providing an appropriate urban scale in just a
few streets (e.g.Gold Street and Broad Street)

- the late 17th and early 19th century non-conformist
chapels and their settings

- the Mill buildings, Mill Stream and their settings

- the relatively few remaining but good quality traditional
shopfronts

- a small area on the south side of Hind Street with several
surviving authentic workshops

- original panelled doors and double-hung sash or casement
windows with narrow glazing bars

- the use of traditional building materials, early brickwork,
natural slate, including Cornish varieties, natural stone,

especially chert boundary walls or brick on chert footings

- ornamental ironwork; railings and ornamental gateways,
especially where neglected or vulnerable

- important gaps between buildings and vistas along streets,
or from higher vantage points (e.g. the churchyard). Some
vistas are contained by boundary walls, and viewpoints are
enhanced by a backdrop of trees (e.g. car park in Hind
Street)

- unusual items of street furniture, especially the 19th
century street lamp adjoining the Mill Stream; the
distinctive wood/metal turnstiles at Piccadilly Walk.

The north side of Broad Street
retains a pleasant scale of 2-3
storey buildings with much good
detail







10 LOSS OF CHARACTER AND
INTRUSION

The main elements in the conservation area which are tending to
result in loss of character and a poor quality of environment are

- extensive loss of traditional shopfronts, and replacement with
plain fascias and often dominant lettering

- loss of traditional carpentry; particularly doors and windows
along main street fmntag:s, and rcpiaccment with unsuitable
"off-the-shelf" substitutes or PYCU double glazing

- the considerable number of vacant and dilapidatf:d buildings,
notably, the Old Fire Station and former Cottage Hospital

- prominent overhead lines in historically important streets,
notably Paternoster Row, Cornhill and part of West Street

- traffic and pedestrian conflict at Broad Street and adjoining
junctions

- poor linkage between public car parks and main historic attrac-
tions

- deteriorating boundary walls, particularly the extensive brick
walls in Hind Street which provide an important entrance to the
town centre

- undue street clutter, due to unwieldy road signs and their means

of illumination, streetlighting and overhead power lines

comb'[ngd, television aerials etc. (Abow) These views close to the entry #‘Hma’ Street to Broad Street contain
disruptive elements that typify the edge of many town centres with prominent car
parking, a clutter of signs and unsightly rear service yards

(Lefi) Mill Street, Raleigh House; one of the finest 18th century houses in the
town with original iron railings was in a neglected state at the time of this
survey (but is now restored))







HISTORIC MAPS

1805 Devon County Survey: Scale: originally 3 inches to the mile (scale may be altered for the purpose of the report)
























